ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

NOV 08 2016
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WALTER SCOTT GARRETT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001526

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender

Taylor Gilliam
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by admitting dated other bad sex acts evidence from the time the alleged victim was a small child in another state since this evidence was not admissible under Lyle, appellant had inadequate notice of the specific nature of these explosively prejudicial allegations, and the trial court failed to conduct the prejudice analysis required by Rule 403, SCRE?

2.

Whether the court abused its discretion in refusing to dismiss this case based on the twenty-four year pre-indictment delay since the delay was very prejudicial to appellant including the fact that a witness died in the intervening time who would have testified that the alleged victim told her that she only accused appellant of the sexual abuse to get even with him for “taking her mother away” from her, and appellant could not prepare a defense, and get a fair trial given the unreasonable pre-indictment delay?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Walter Scott Garrett was indicted at the July 7, 2014 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. The indictment alleged that appellant had oral sex and sexual intercourse with the alleged victim in Charleston County “between October 1989 and January 1990.” R. 288- 291. Appellant’s case was called to trial on July 6, 2015 before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson. John Kozelski, III and Laurie Proctor represented appellant. Deborah Herring-Lash and Nina Savas were the assistant solicitors. R. 1-2.

On July 8, 2015, the jury found appellant guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. R. 282, ll. 1-6. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to fifteen years imprisonment. R. 287, ll. 13-21.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by admitting dated other bad sex acts evidence from the time the alleged victim was a small child in another state since this evidence was not admissible under Lyle, appellant had inadequate notice of the specific nature of these explosively prejudicial allegations to defend against them, and the trial court failed to conduct the prejudice analysis required by Rule 403, SCRE.

Relevant facts

This is a sad case as defense counsel Kozelski explained in his opening statement:

*Over 30 years ago [the alleged victim] was a little girl . . . And as a small child it was just her and her mother, Cathy Garrett, on the road. And when I say on the road, I mean literally on the road. **They would hitchhike from state to state escaping whatever it was that Cathy Garrett was running from at the time. And many times it was fueled by drugs and alcohol. That was until she met my client, Walter Scott Garrett, as they passed through Clayton County, Georgia in 1983.***

Now, Cathy Garrett loved Walter Garrett, she married Walter Garrett, but he was also a person that stood in between the mother of a child who desperately craved her mother's attention. Now, Walter took the two into his home and raised [the alleged victim] as his own.

R. 57, l. 18 – 58, 10. (emphasis added).

Appellant moved Cathy Garrett and the alleged victim to Charleston in 1989 after Hugo apparently looking for clean-up or construction work in its aftermath. R. 65, ll. 17-20. However, it was not until 2014 when appellant was indicted on two counts of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, First Degree for actions allegedly occurring in Charleston County between October 1989 and January 1990. R. 288-291.

Appellant was located in Georgia in December 2013, twenty-three years after the last alleged act of malfeasance. R. 4, ll. 11-16. He was served with his arrest warrant on January 3, 2014, twenty-four years after the actions described in the indictment allegedly took place. R. 164.¹

The 24-year delay between the alleged misconduct and indictment was due in part to the fact that the Sheriff's Department did not enter the warrant into NCIC (National Crime Information Center). R. 4, l. 10. It was not until the Sheriff's Department conducted an internal audit in 2013 when it was realized that numerous warrants had not been entered. *Id.* at ll. 11-13.

During this delay, an incredibly important witness, appellant's mother died. Defense counsel told the judge that appellant was present when the alleged victim told his mother that "she was accusing him because he took her mother away." The judge quickly interjected that the defense could then call appellant's mother as a witness. However, Defense counsel told the judge that appellant's mother died in 1999. The judge then reasoned that appellant, while not having to testify, could solve the problem by testifying that the alleged victim made this admission to his mother. Defense counsel noted that while the judge said she did not mean to shift the burden of proof that she actually was doing so. R. 21, l. 12 – 22, l. 20.

In addition, counsel noted that DSS documents were destroyed in accordance with their document retention policy. R. 11, ll. 1-16. Medical records, including those related to twenty-one sessions that the alleged victim (hereinafter "JSP") attended at the Crime Victim's Research and Treatment Center which detailed the alleged victim's auditory and visual hallucinations, were also destroyed. R. 20, ll. 1-5.

¹ Two different court reporters were used for this three day trial. Thus, the different transcript numbers.

One of JSP's supervising doctors, Dr. Julie Kaposki, was not called to testify. She did not remember anything about the case at this late date. Id. at ll. 6-11. Another witness, appellant's mother, had died during the intervening two decades, in 1999. R. 22, ll. 2-3.

As stated, JSP moved to Charleston County with her mother and appellant in 1989 when she was 10 years old. R. 63, R. 133. Before living in South Carolina, she previously lived in Florida and Georgia. R. 66. Although the indictments dealt only with alleged misconduct in Charleston County for a period of four months JSP testified regarding misconduct which allegedly occurred in Georgia, beginning with what she allegedly remember from the age of three. R. 75 – 81, 85, R. 110 – 117. Starting at the same age, JSP was in and out of foster care. R. 63, ll. 24-25.

The state filed a pre-motion to include testimony of prior bad acts allegedly committed by appellant. Supp. R. 1, ll. 24-25. The proposed testimony encompassed a time span beginning in 1983 until appellant, JSP, and Cathy Garrett moved to Charleston County in the end of 1989. Supp. R. 2, ll. 12 - 16. It was the solicitor's plan to let JSP testify about these prior bad acts *in camera*, and then argue for their admissibility. ("I'll go through the Charleston County allegations and then I'll break and she can talk about Georgia in camera."). Supp. R. 3, ll. 18-23, R. 50, 2-9.

Following JSP's *in camera* testimony, defense counsel moved to first have the testimony excluded under Rule 5. R. 88, ll.8-14. Records produced in discovery did not contain any reference to additional allegations. R. 103; ll. 21-25. Following a discussion of other discovery and documents produced, the trial court concluded that the evidence was admissible. R. 97, ll. 8-9.

In denying defense counsel's motion to exclude testimony, the judge referred to appellant's actions as a continuing course of conduct, thereby invoking the exception described in State v. Lyle.² The judge did not weigh the unduly prejudicial effect of these other bad acts against their probative value despite defense counsel's presentation that it would be explosively prejudicial for the state to admit evidence alleging appellant molested JSP from the time she was three years old despite the limited time frame in the indictment. Defense counsel repeatedly protested that there was no way they could defend against such a broad dated attack at this late date. R. 97-99.

The judge maintained that audio tapes that were provided by the solicitor refuted defense counsel's argument of inadequate notice to prepare any attempt to refute these allegations, and this "trial by ambush." The judge insisted "trial by ambush" was seemingly just part of the system. "You know, South Carolina, trials, criminal cases, are to a large extent about ambush, unfortunately or fortunately. I'm used to it. I've been doing this so long I don't know that there is any appreciable difference." R. 87, l. 7-15; R. 99, ll. 21-25.

However, and despite the judge's claims of the normalcy of "trial by ambush" those audio tapes contained JSP's statement regarding conduct that occurred *in Charleston, not Georgia*. R. 95, ll. 2-17. The judge then noted, as if it dispatched with all of appellant's arguments, that a limiting limiting instruction on the other bad acts would be given. R. 103, ll. 5-11.

² 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

Discussion

The trial judge erred by admitting testimony from the alleged victim regarding her recollections from age three until the beginning of the indictment timeframe. Her testimony of alleged prior bad acts should have been excluded under Rule 403, SCRE and State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009).

During the majority of the time period listed in the indictments, October 1989 through January 1990, appellant and the alleged victim lived in South Carolina. R. 33, ll. 20-21. The alleged victim was born on May 25, 1979; she was 10 years old during the indictment timespan. R. 62, l. 8. Although both indictments contained a limited temporal description, the trial court allowed the alleged victim to testify regarding acts which she claimed to have taken place 1) in Georgia and 2) outside of the narrow time span. Appellant contended at trial that this evidence should not have been admitted.

“Proof that a defendant has been guilty of another crime equally heinous prompts to a ready acceptance of and belief in the prosecution’s theory that he is guilty of the crime charged. Its effect is to predispose the mind of the juror to believe the prisoner guilty, and thus effectually to strip him of the presumption of innocence. It compels the defendant to meet charges of which the indictment gives him no information, confuses him in his defense, raises a variety of issues, and thus diverts the attention of the jury from the one immediately before it.

State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923).

Evidence of a defendant's prior crimes or other bad acts to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged is excluded under South Carolina law except to establish (1) motive, (2) intent, (3) the absence of mistake or accident, (4) a common scheme or plan, or (5) the identity of the perpetrator. Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999); State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). “Evidence of other crimes must be put to a rather severe test before admission. The acid test of admissibility is the logical relevancy of the

other crimes. The trial judge must clearly perceive the connection between the other crimes and the crimes charged.” State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 103, 504 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998).

“If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing.” State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008) (citing State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006)). Evidence of a prior bad act is not admissible if the State fails to adduce any proof that a defendant was responsible for the act. State v. Pierce, 326 S.C. 176, 178, 485 S.E.2d 913, 914 (1997).

Rule 403

Further, even if evidence is clear and convincing and falls within a Lyle exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. Rule 403, SCRE; Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 23, 664 S.E.2d at 483; King, 334 S.C. at 512, 514 S.E.2d at 582. “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 627, 496 S.E.2d 424, 427 (Ct.App.1998).

JSP was allowed to testify about prior bad acts under the “common scheme or plan” exception. R. 102, ll. 22 – 23. **However, the trial court never conducted the balancing test required by State v. Wallace:**

Once bad act evidence is found admissible under Rule 404(b), the trial court must then conduct the prejudice analysis required by Rule 403, SCRE. The probative value of evidence falling within one of the Rule 404(b) exceptions must substantially outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.

384 S.C. 428, 435, 683 S.E.2d 275, 278-79 (2009), see also State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007). (Emphasis added).

This Court in State v. King, 416 S.C. 92, 784 S.E.2d 252 (Ct. App. 2016), (May 2, 2016) discussed many of these same issues. Because the trial court in that matter failed to

conduct an analysis in accordance with the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, this Court remanded that matter back to the Circuit Court. As noted in King, State v. Spears analyzed the same issue and came to the same conclusion. See State v. Spears, 403 S.C. 247, 254, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct.App.2013) (“find[ing] the [circuit] court erred by failing to conduct an on-the-record Rule 403 balancing test.”), *cert. denied* (Sept. 11, 2014). Id. at 110, 784 S.E.2d at 262.

The trial judge discussed admissibility, but she never analyzed prejudice. R. 97-101. The probative value of prior bad acts was substantially outweighed by the prejudice of allowing JSP to discuss incidents which allegedly took place beginning on her third birthday. This is the same witness who, over the course of a few minutes’ worth of cross-examination, replied at least ten times with some variation of “I do not remember.” R. 126, l. 20 – 131, l. 6.

Other than JSP, *no witnesses* with anything approaching personal knowledge of the prior bad acts were called to testify at trial. As defense counsel correctly argued, appellant’s mother could have testified about impeaching statements made by JSP, but she passed away before appellant was indicted. As a result, a single witness, JSP, offered evidence of prior bad acts which allegedly occurred thirty-two years prior to trial. JSP’s recollections began at age three, a time when most memories are hazy, at best. The probative value of her testimony was outweighed significantly by the prejudice faced by appellant at this late date.

Appellant was also prejudiced by the admission of JSP’s testimony in that he was unable to put together an alibi on such short notice. Defense counsel filed a Brady³ motion on June 29, 2015, wherein he requested evidence of other crimes or other acts that the State may use in an

³ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

attempt to show motive, identity, and the existence of a common scheme or plan. R. 92. R. 92, 1. 22 – 93, 1. 2.

In determining that the state did not have to give notice of every specific prior bad act, the judge also reasoned that defense counsel could have discussed these prior occurrences with appellant in order to find out specific incidents. R. 104, ll. 5 - 8. This remark indicated the judge's burden shifting and conflicting belief that appellant could refute these allegations if he was not guilty of them, and at the same time appellant likely could not establish an alibi to such dated out-of-state allegations at this late date anyway. R. 93, ll. 24 – 25, 94, ll. 2 – 4, 100, ll. 17 - 18. Regardless, appellant had no notice of specific allegations prior to JSP's *in camera* testimony at trial, and he was therefore utterly without a prayer of refuting the allegation. R. 93, ll. 16 – 20.

Taken as a whole, JSP's testimony regarding alleged misconduct outside of the realm of the indictment substantially prejudiced appellant. The probative value of the evidence pales in comparison to the perception and resulting prejudice. Her testimony should have been excluded. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the evidence was admissible, the trial court failed to perform the necessary prejudice analysis which the Supreme Court in Wallace unequivocally held *must* be performed. As a result, appellant requests that this case be remanded to Charleston County for a new trial. In the alternative, this case should be remanded for a prejudice versus probative value analysis as mandated by the applicable case law.

The court abused its discretion in refusing to dismiss this case based on the twenty-four year pre-indictment delay since the delay was very prejudicial to appellant including the fact that a witness died in the intervening time who would have testified that the alleged victim told her that she only accused appellant of the sexual abuse to get even with him for “taking her mother away” from her, and appellant could not prepare a defense, and get a fair trial given the unreasonable pre-indictment delay.

Appellant was severely prejudiced by the pre-indictment delay. JSP’s testimony includes alleged misconduct from 1983 until early 1990. Appellant was not indicted until 2014. R. 288-291. As a result, documents were destroyed, witnesses moved and passed away, and the initial arrest warrants were not placed into a national database.

South Carolina has adopted a two-prong inquiry when pre-indictment delay is alleged to have violated a defendant's due process rights. State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 72-73, 480 S.E.2d 64, 68-69 (1997) (citing U.S. v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 97 S.Ct. 2044, 52 L.Ed.2d 752 (1977)). First, the defendant must prove that the delay caused substantial actual prejudice to his right to a fair trial. Id. The second prong requires the court to consider the reason for the state's delay and to balance the justification for the delay against the prejudice to the defendant. Id.

To meet his burden of showing substantial prejudice, the defendant must identify the evidence and expected content of the evidence with specificity, as well as show that he made serious efforts to obtain the evidence and that it was not available from other source. Brazell, supra. The second part of the due process inquiry requires the court to consider the prosecution's reasons for the delay and balance the justification for delay with any prejudice to the defendant. Brazell, supra. When balancing the prejudice and the justification, the basic inquiry then

becomes whether the government's action in prosecuting after substantial delay violates "fundamental conceptions of justice" or "the community's sense of fair play and decency." State v. Lee, 375 S.C. 394, 400, 653 S.E.2d 259, 262 (2007).

Appellant's mother passed away in 1999, ten years after the alleged misconduct concluded **and fifteen years prior to the indictments**. As a result, appellant was prejudiced by his inability to call her as an impeachment witness to reveal JSP's admission that she made these allegations out of anger at appellant "because he took her mother away." R. 21, ll. 20 – 23.

Due to the pre-indictment delay, however, appellant's mother was no longer alive to testify. That witnesses will die if there is a substantial delay between allegations, and indictment and trial is as literally predictable as death and taxes. Her testimony, discussed with specificity, was now unobtainable due to her death. Although appellant may have overheard the conversation, it was burden shifting, and unreasonable to expect him to expose himself to an experienced prosecutor by taking the state to refute allegations he could not effectively refute with only **his words**. Juries are not inclined to accept the simple word of a criminal defendant. Everything a defendant testifies to is likely viewed as self-serving not only by the solicitor but, as stated, very often by the jury also.

In addition to the unavailable witness, appellant was prejudiced by the fact that potentially exculpatory records no longer existed. R. 23, ll. 14 – 17. DSS records and caseworker notes were destroyed. R. 11, ll. 1 – 16, 28, ll. 11 – 17. These records were not obtainable from other sources. Similarly, documents related to JSP's twenty-one therapy sessions which documented her auditory and visual hallucinations were no longer available. R. 20, ll. 4 – 5.

JSP's mother was available to testify at trial, but her credibility was questioned by the solicitor. R. 34, ll. 16-19. The solicitor maintained: "She can't remember very much." The solicitor asserted that years of drugs and alcohol had taken their toll. Id. Had this trial occurred soon after the last alleged act of malfeasance, yet another witness may have been available to testify competently.

Due to no fault of his own, appellant was prejudiced. The state sought to introduce evidence of flight, but following an *in camera* review of a Charleston County Detective's testimony, **that line of questioning was withdrawn:**

Q: Was it imperative to your investigation to determine where her parents were at that time?

A: In the, in - - so it's - - well, really, no, at that particular time because we had already taken her into protective custody.

Q: During your interview of the victim did you, did you - -

Ms. Savas: Your Honor - -

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