ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 08 2016

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY SC Court of Appeals  
Court of General Sessions  
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001526

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

WALTER SCOTT GARRETT, .....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3922

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting St., Ste. 400  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge properly admitted evidence of Appellant's prior bad acts against victim where Appellant failed to timely object to the admission of the evidence at trial, records of the bad acts were provided to him over a year prior to trial, and the trial judge reviewed the evidence and determined it was admissible under Rule 403, SCRE.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting the evidence of Appellant's prior bad acts against victim because the judge failed to conduct a Rule 403, SCRE balancing test to determine whether the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to him.

The State disagrees with Appellant's allegations of error. Initially, the State notes Appellant failed to timely object to Victim's testimony regarding Appellant's prior bad acts or to the alleged failure of the trial judge to perform a Rule 403 balancing test. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Additionally, Appellant's argument is meritless for several reasons: (1) the trial judge did, in fact, perform a Rule 403 balancing test on the record; (2) Appellant was on constructive notice of the types of bad acts the State sought to admit at trial; (3) even if Appellant was without notice of the types of prior bad act evidence the State sought to admit, said error was harmless as it would have had no impact on his ability to provide alibi evidence.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits solely to review errors of law. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "The trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his decision should not be disturbed absent prejudicial abuse of discretion." State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). An abuse of

discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008).

Generally, evidence of prior bad acts is not admissible to prove the crime for which the defendant is charged. State v. Henry, 313 S.C. 106, 108, 432 S.E.2d 489, 490 (Ct. App. 1993). However, prior bad acts may be admissible when they establish (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan; or (5) identity of the person charged. Rule 404(b), SCORE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 416, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). Evidence of prior bad acts is admissible if it tends to show a common scheme or plan and is sufficiently similar to the charged offense and its probative value clearly outweighs its prejudicial effect. State v. Blanton, 316 S.C. 31, 32–33, 446 S.E.2d 438, 439 (Ct. App. 1994).

To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009). "Further, even though the evidence . . . falls within a Lyle exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant." State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 634, 541 S.E.2d 833, 836 (2001) (citing Rule 403, SCORE).

"Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis." State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir. 1993)); see also State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); United States v. Rodriguez–Estrada, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir. 1989) ("[A]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided."). "A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional

circumstances." State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014). "We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment." Id. (quoting State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003)). "[If] an on-the-record Rule 403 analysis is required, this Court will not reverse the conviction if the trial judge's comments concerning the matter indicate he was cognizant of the evidentiary rule when admitting the evidence of [a defendant's] prior bad acts." State v. King, 349 S.C.142, 156, 561 S.E.2d 640, 647 (Ct. App. 2002).

### **Preservation**

The State notes Appellant failed to timely object to Victim's testimony about the prior bad acts. Admittedly, lengthy in camera discussion about admission of the prior bad acts took place on the first day of trial. The trial judge deemed the prior bad acts were admissible, and then adjourned court for the day. When Victim resumed her testimony the following morning, Counsel failed to make any objection to her prior bad act testimony. Accordingly, any issues regarding that testimony are not preserved for review. See State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (stating an objection made in limine is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence, and an objection to the admission of evidence must be made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling is made, otherwise the issue is not preserved for review). Additionally, when the judge made her in camera ruling regarding the admissibility of the prior bad acts, Counsel failed to make any objection or other comment about the perceived absence of a Rule 403 balancing test. Thus, any argument regarding the 403 balancing test is also unpreserved on that ground. See State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (stating a party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal);

State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001) (stating a party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground).

### **Rule 403, SCRE Balancing Test**

Appellant is incorrect in his assertion that the trial judge failed to perform a Rule 403 balancing test. While the trial judge did not directly state on the record "I am performing a Rule 403 balancing test," the trial judge performed such an analysis before making a ruling on the admissibility of the prior bad act evidence.

In State v. Brayboy, 401 S.C. 207, 736 S.E.2d 679 (2012) this Court found a trial judge who did not specifically state on the record that he was performing a Rule 403 balancing test did, in fact perform such an analysis through various comments made at trial. The Court took notice of three specific statements by the judge in which he stated: (1) he wanted the jurors to base their decision "solely on the facts presented during the course of [the] trial . . . and not on some issue that occurred in previous conviction"; (2) the use of the convictions during impeachment should have "nothing to do" with showing the jury that "[a defendant] did it once, they must [have] done it again"; and (3) the questioning a witness regarding his prior conviction for possession of a sawed-off shotgun, which was "a direct issue involved in the case," was "highly prejudicial to a jury in determining . . . someone's credibility."

Here, in ruling on the admissibility of the evidence, the trial judge first found the evidence admissible as a Lyle exception. After stating the various factors considered under Wallace, the trial judge directly addressed Counsel's argument that the defense was "surprised" by the type of prior bad acts presented by the State. She noted the State's motion, considered in tandem with the discovery provided to Appellant, very specifically pointed to the types of prior

bad act evidence the State sought to introduce at trial. Thus, she found there was not "any merit" to Counsel's argument. She also noted that some degree of surprise is inevitable in a trial, but the State disclosed all required evidence. She further noted the argument that Appellant could have provided an alibi with proper notice of alleged prior bad acts was "tenuous at best," based on the constant cohabitation of Appellant and Victim and the continuous commission of the assaults over that nearly seven-year period. Moreover, the trial judge determined a limiting instruction was appropriate in order to minimize any unfair prejudice which could arise from presentation of the prior bad acts.

The trial judge's statements prove she performed a Rule 403 balancing test. She determined the defense had adequate notice of the types of prior bad acts the State sought to introduce, and that admission of those acts did not impact Appellant's ability to provide an alibi or explanation for those acts. Furthermore, the trial judge gave a limiting instruction to the jury, which further demonstrated her consideration of the potential prejudice of the prior bad act evidence. Accordingly, the record proves the trial judge performed a Rule 403 balancing test. See Brayboy, 401 S.C. at 213–14, 736 S.E.2d at 682–683; King, 349 S.C. at 155–57, 561 S.E.2d at 647.

Moreover, Appellant failed to provide any evidence that he was prejudiced by the admission of the prior bad acts. At trial, Counsel's only objection to the admission of the prior bad act evidence was that he was unaware of the character of prior bad act evidence the State sought to introduce at trial. He failed to provide any examples of potential alibis or other defense evidence which could have been discovered but for the alleged failure of the State to inform him about the types of prior bad act evidence it sought to introduce. Counsel also failed to refute that certain items provided in discovery, including the audio recording of Victim's January 15, 1990

interview with police and the January 16, 1990 medical report indicated Victim claimed a history of oral and penile intercourse with Appellant. Accordingly, Appellant failed to provide any evidence he was prejudiced by the trial judge's alleged deficiency and this Court should not grant Appellant's requested relief. See Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28 (stating a trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances); Gilchrist, 329 S.C. at 630, 496 S.E.2d at 429 (stating unfair evidence is only that which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis).

## II.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss this case based on the twenty-four year pre-indictment delay because Appellant failed to demonstrate he was substantially prejudiced by the length of the delay and the delay was caused, in part, because Appellant absconded from the state when he discovered Victim reported her assaults to police.**

Appellant argues he was severely prejudiced by the nearly twenty-four year pre-indictment delay, as he lost access to a witness, his mother who died in 1999, and various documents which were destroyed in the intervening years, including: (1) DSS records; (2) caseworker notes; and (3) written records regarding Victim's twenty-one therapy sessions. Appellant further argues that the blame for the delay falls squarely on the State, as it was not permitted to introduce evidence of Appellant's flight at trial.

The State disagrees with Appellant's allegations of error. Appellant was not prejudiced by the delay because: (1) the testimony Appellant wished to elicit from his mother was to an event also witnessed by two other witnesses present at trial, Cramer and Victim's foster mother, and Counsel did not dispute their ability to testify to those events and made no attempt to elicit that information from them on cross-examination; (2) while some records pertaining to Appellant's case were destroyed, hundreds of pages of pertinent records were preserved, including the entirety of the GDSS file, the medical evaluation of Victim performed January 15, 1990, 133 pages of SCDSS records composed of case summaries, court documents, the written summary of Victim's twenty-one counseling sessions, and pictures and written explanations prepared by Victim; (3) Counsel used the discovery to mount an effective trial defense;

(4) Appellant, in part, contributed to the pre-indictment delay when he fled the State after finding out the police began investigating his sexual assaults of Victim

“Under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, criminal prosecutions must comport with prevailing notions of fundamental fairness.” California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984). The fundamental fairness standard requires criminal defendants to be given a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Id.; see State v. Harris, 311 S.C. 162, 167, 427 S.E.2d 909, 912 (Ct. App. 1993) (“Due process requires that a criminal defendant be given a reasonable opportunity to present a complete defense.”). However, a defendant is not entitled to a “perfect” investigation or trial; only fair ones. See State v. Greene, 255 S.C. 548, 558, 180 S.E.2d 178, 184 (1971) (“[The appellant] was not entitled to a perfect trial, only a fair one.”); see also Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 208 (1977) (“Due process does not require that every conceivable step be taken, at whatever cost, to eliminate the possibility of convicting an innocent person.”); see generally Baker v. McCollan, 443 U.S. 137, 146 (1979) (instructing law enforcement officers are not required to perform entirely error-free investigations).

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has adopted a two-prong inquiry to determine whether a pre-indictment delay has violated a defendant's due process rights. State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 72–73, 480 S.E.2d 64, 68–69 (1999). First, a defendant must prove that the delay caused substantial actual prejudice to his right to a fair trial. Id. To prove substantial actual prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate he was “meaningfully impaired in his ability to defend against the [S]tate's charges” to such a degree that the delay likely impacted the ultimate disposition of the criminal proceeding. Id. at 73, 480 S.E.2d at 69. When the claimed prejudice is the unavailability of a witness or other evidence, “a defendant must identify the evidence and expected content of the evidence with specificity, as well as show that he made

serious efforts to obtain the evidence and that it was not available from another source." State v. Lee, 375 S.C. 394, 398, 653 S.E.2d 259, 261 (2007).

If a court finds that the delay caused such prejudice, the court must then consider the reason for the State's delay and balance the justification for the delay against said prejudice. Id. "When balancing the prejudice and the justification, '[t]he basic inquiry then becomes whether the government's action in prosecuting after substantial delay violates 'fundamental conceptions of justice' or 'the community's sense of fair play and decency.'" Brazell, 325 S.C. at 73, 480 S.E.2d at 69 (quoting U.S. v. Automated Med. Labs., Inc., 770 F.2d 399, 404 (4th Cir. 1985)).

### **Prejudice**

In Lee, the defendant was charged and convicted of four counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of lewd act on a minor. The Supreme Court of South Carolina found Lee was prejudiced by a twelve-year pre-indictment delay because all records pertaining to: (1) the previous 1988 DSS investigation into the abuse survived the twelve-year delay; (2) the Department of Juvenile Justice's investigation; and (3) family court proceedings were destroyed during the twelve-year delay. The court noted the complete lack of records eliminated Lee's ability to cross-examine the State's witnesses and look into potential exculpatory evidence, ultimately prejudicing him. The court made specific reference to the fact that DSS had removed Victims from Lee's home due to allegations of sexual abuse and later returned them, but records explaining why the agency returned the children to the home or decided not to prosecute him at that time were unavailable, and thus the missing evidence, "on balance would have likely benefitted Lee . . . ." Id. at 399, 653 S.E.2d at 261.

Here, Appellant had access to a significant amount of discovery prior to trial. The State provided Appellant with 571 pages of discovery, including the entirety of the GDSS file and 133

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